in the supreme court of florida ${f F}$ ${f I}$ ${f L}$ ${f E}$ ${f D}$

SID J. WHITE

NOV 1 1995

JOHN LOVEMAN REESE,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPREME GOURT Chilef Departy Clerk

v.

CASE NO. 82,119

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

NADA M. CAREY ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 0648825

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 14, 1992, the Duval County Grand Jury indicted appellant, JOHN LOVEMAN REESE, for the first-degree murder of Sharlene Austin on or between January 28 and 29, 1992, sexual battery with great force, burglary with assault, and armed kidnapping. (R 14). The kidnapping charge was dropped before trial. (T 162)

Reese was tried by jury before Circuit Judge L. P. Haddock on March 18 and 22-25, 1993. During pretrial proceedings, appellant gave notice of his intent to participate in discovery and demanded all matters encompassed by Rule 3.220(b). (R 10). As to any statements by accused, the state's response was "All statements brought out at depositions. Any statements by accused on arrest and booking report. Defendant confessed to Hinson, Thowart, and Grier. (T 17). During the state's case-

¹References to the three-volume record on appeal are designated by "R" and the page number. References to the fifteen-volume trial transcript are designated by "T" and the page number.

in-chief, appellant alleged a discovery violation in that the state had failed to disclose appellant's alleged statement as to the time-frame of the murder. The trial court ruled there was no violation and denied appellant's motions to exclude the testimony and for mistrial. (T 820-849). Appellant testified in his defense. Following deliberations, the jury found appellant guilty as charged on all counts. (T 1146).

At the penalty phase of the trial, on May 14, 1993, the defense presented seven witnesses, and the state presented one rebuttal witness. (T 1186-1402). During the penalty phase charge conference, the trial court overruled appellant's objections to the standard jury instructions on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating circumstances and rejected his requests for expanded instructions. (T 1413-1414, 1420-1421, R 343-345). Following deliberations, the jury returned with an advisory verdict recommending the death sentence by a vote of 8 to 4. (T 1492).

On June 24, 1993, the trial court denied appellant's motion for new trial (T 1499) and the defense submitted its memorandum in support of a life sentence. (T 1501, R 368-373). On June 25, 1993, the court sentenced Reese to death for the first-degree murder, finding three aggravating factors and one mitigating factor. (T 1508-1513, R 382-384). The court sentenced Reese to concurrent sentences of 22 years in prison on the remaining counts. (T 1515).

Notice of appeal was timely filed July 16, 1993. (R 392).

This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, s. 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case involves an emotional triangle between Reese, his girlfriend, Jackie Grier, and the victim, Sharlene Austin. Austin was Grier's best friend. The state's theory at trial was that Reese blamed Austin for his failing relationship with Grier and plotted to rape and kill Austin as an act of revenge. The defense theory was that Reese had developed an abnormal attachment to Grier as a result of childhood trauma, in particular the brutal slaying of his mother by his father, and, perceiving Austin as a threat to his relationship with Grier, tried to talk to her in an effort to salvage his relationship with Grier, and killed her in a state of rage.

Guilt Phase

State's Case-in-Chief

A. The Triangle: Jackie Grier's Testimony

On direct examination, Grier testified that Reese had been her boyfriend for seven years, off and on, and had lived with her for three-and-a-half years. He was very jealous and possessive. Austin had been her best friend for two-and-a-half years; they saw each other every day. (T 616-617). Reese disliked Austin for "no reason" at all. (T 618). Between October 1991 and the end of January 1992, Austin and Grier had boyfriends in Fort Stewart, Georgia, whom they visited on weekends. (T 619). Grier said Reese was not living with her

during this time period and characterized their relationship as "nonexistent." (T 618).

The last trip to Georgia occurred the weekend before

Austin was killed. They left Saturday, January 25, 1992, and
returned Monday, January 27. (T 619). According to Grier,

Reese was not at her house that weekend. (T 620). On Wednesday, January 29, Grier became worried when she was unable to
reach Austin by phone. She and a neighbor went to Austin's
house and found the back door unlocked. The living room was in
disarray, and Austin's body was in the bedroom, lying face down
on the floor, covered only with a bedspread. (T 629-633).

After the police arrived, Austin's parents drove Grier home. She found Reese in the bedroom. She had not seen him since the week before and was surprised to see him. There were fresh fingernail scratches on his neck and arm. He did not react when she told him about Austin's death and would not come out and meet her parents. (T 635-637).

In late April or early May, two weeks after Reese was arrested for the murder, Grier paid a visit to Reese in jail to find out the truth about whether he had raped Austin. At first he admitted only the murder. Eventually, he admitted he also had sexually assaulted Austin. (T 637-638).

Grier provided additional insight into the relationship on cross-examination. She was living in Anniston, Alabama, when she met Reese. She was older than Reese and was married and had four children. (T 642). They dated for a short time, but

Reese broke off the relationship when he found out Grier was married. They resumed dating after Grier left her husband and began living together a few years later. (T 642).

As the relationship developed, Reese became increasingly possessive. The couple often had long talks about Reese's possessiveness and jealousy. (T 645). Grier cared for Reese a lot but at times talked about leaving him and on occasion did leave him. When this occurred, Reese got very emotional and cried a lot. Sometimes he became so distraught, Grier had to hug him and try to calm him down. (T 648).

They both held jobs in Anniston, and Reese helped support Grier and her children. When Grier lost her job because of cutbacks, Reese's support was not enough, so Grier decided to move to Jacksonville where she had family and hoped to find a new job. (T 649). Grier felt Reese should be on his own for a while, so he stayed in Anniston. (T 650). In Jacksonville, Grier met Austin, and they became very close friends. After Grier got settled in Jacksonville, Reese joined her there, and they tried to get a fresh start. The relationship flourished for a while, then the old problems resurfaced. One problem was Grier's suspicion that Reese was using drugs. (T 651-652).

Grier and Austin spent a lot of time together, frequently going to clubs together. (T 652). When Austin visited, Reese usually just said hello, then went to another room or left the house. Reese and Austin never argued, but Grier could tell there was tension on Reese's part and knew he felt threatened

by her relationship with Austin. (T 653, 655-656). Reese wanted Grier to stay home with him and often voiced concerns about her going out with Austin. (T 654). Grier asked Reese to go with them sometimes, but he always said no. (T 655). When Grier eventually confronted Reese about his attitude towards Austin, he said he was afraid the men hanging around Austin at the clubs would become interested in Grier and he might lose her. (T 655).

In October of 1991, Grier and Austin quit the club scene in Jacksonville and start going to the Officer's Club in Fort Stewart. Grier had decided to start looking for someone else, someone who would treat her right. (T 657). When Reese asked her where she was going, she led him to believe she was going to visit Austin's family. (T 658-660). Meanwhile, Grier met a soldier named Rick, Austin met a soldier named Nick, and Grier and Austin began spending their weekends with Rick and Nick. (T 660-661). Grier did everything she could to keep her involvement with Rick a secret because she was afraid Reese would explode with jealousy and become violent if he found out. She admitted she continued to see Reese during the week while the trips to Fort Stewart were going on but she saw less and less of him as the relationship with Rick developed. (T 661).

Defense counsel brought out on cross-examination that

Grier had talked to both Austin and Reese the day before

Austin's body was discovered. Grier received a phone call from

Reese around 3 o'clock that afternoon. He asked if she had a

good time over the weekend and sounded sarcastic. (T 662).

About an hour later, she got a call from Austin. After chatting a while, Austin said she was going to take a nap. She called again about 7:40 and said she was about to get up. (T 663). When Grier asked if anyone was with her, Austin said no and abruptly hung up, which was unusual for her. (T 667).

Turning to the night Austin's body was discovered, Grier admitted she called home before she left Austin's house and was told by her children that Reese was coming over that night. She was still surprised to see him because "he lies so much." (T 668). He kept trying to talk to her that night but she put him off because she was so upset. (T 669). He did tell her he loved her very much. He also told her something was going on and she needed to stick by him. (T 669). Even so, a calm seemed to have come over him. (T 669).

Reese eventually moved back in with Grier and the relationship flourished once again. (T 670).

Turning to the arrest, Grier said she accompanied Reese to the police station the day of his arrest. (T 671). After the detectives talked to Reese for a while, they came and told her they expected to arrest him and he wanted to see her. They took her to the door of the interview room, she asked him what happened, and then left. (T 672).

The same day, after Reese was arrested, Grier received a phone call from him. He was upset and crying. (T 673). The state objected to this line of questioning as beyond the scope

of direct examination. The trial court sustained the objection but allowed the defense to make a proffer. (T 675-676). the proffer, Grier said the conversation at the jail she had testified to on direct examination was one of a series of conversations she had with Reese after his arrest in which she tried to get him to admit the sexual battery. (T 678). the first conversation, she told him she was mad at him and would not talk to him unless he told her what happened. He called back a half hour later and told her what happened. went to Austin's house to ask her to lay off seeing Grier so he could have more time with Grier. (T 679). He was planning to talk to her when she got home but when he saw her come down the walk, he got scared and hid in the closet. He hid for a long time while she fell asleep. As he got ready to leave and came out of the closet, she was waking up. He was upset and scared and grabbed her from behind and choked her. He got an extension cord and wrapped it around her neck. He went over there just to talk to her and ask her to give him some more time with Grier. He was jealous and felt like Austin was taking Grier away from him. (T 680-681).

Grier admitted she had been convicted of a crime of dishonesty but did not recall how many times. A conviction for petit theft related to using her identification to lease a television. (T 690).

On redirect, when asked to elaborate on Reese's behavior when she threatened to leave him, Grier said his anger some-

times pushed him to the point where if she did not listen to him, he would shake her, push her down on the bed, lock the door, and not let her out. He would rage and call her names. (T 694-700). When asked if Reese helped support the children, she said he did, but not every week. Sometimes, she would be waiting for the money and he would not show up. (T 701-702).

B. The Physical Evidence

There were signs of a struggle in the living room and bedroom of Austin's house. (T 717). Press-on nails were found on the coffee table, the living room floor, and under her leg. (T 719). An extension cord was around her neck. The cord was folded in half, looped twice around the neck, then fed through the loop and pulled. (T 740). Reese's palm print was found on the foot board of the bed near where the body was found. (T 742-743, 807).

Dr. Arruza, the medical examiner, said Austin had been dead 24 to 36 hours before the body was discovered. (T 788). She died of strangulation. (T 779). In addition to the extension cord around her neck, there were abrasions, or superficial scrapes, on both sides of the neck, above and below the cord. The scrapes were manual-type injuries and could have been made either by the attacker or by Austin herself in an effort to release the pressure. (T 761, 769-770). The mark from the cord extended around the neck and was wider than the cord itself, indicating the cord had moved up and down. (T 762, 766). There was extensive internal hemorrhaging in the

neck area and a thyroid fracture (T 762), indicating it was not a typical ligature strangulation but involved extensive manual manipulation. (T 794).

According to Dr. Arruza, constant pressure to the neck area results in loss of consciousness in thirty to sixty seconds. Three to five minutes of additional constant pressure is required to effect death. If the pressure is relieved, the person will come back to consciousness. (T 787).

There were four facial bruises, on both eyelids, the temple, and the right side of the mouth. (T 759). The bruises were consistent with being hit (T 760) or banging into walls or objects during a struggle. (T 790-791). Because the eyelids were bruised but not the organ of the eye, those injuries were more consistent with being hit than injury due to a fall. (T 796). Intact sperm, probably deposited within the last six hours, were found in the vagina. There were no injuries to the vaginal areas. (T 772-775).

C. Reese's Statements and the Discovery Violation

On April 15, 1992, Detectives Thowart and Hinson interviewed Reese at the police station and obtained two oral statements from Reese. Each statement was reduced to writing by the detectives after it was made and signed by Reese. (T 811-818).

Prior to Thowart's testimony, defense counsel advised the court that although the prosecutor said in opening statement that Reese told police the actual killing took place around 10

p.m., the state had not provided that statement to the defense during discovery. The only statement the defense got about the time-frame was that Reese had said Austin got home around 4 p.m., he waited in a back bedroom until she went to sleep on the couch in the living room, and then came out. (T 820-821).

The trial court held a hearing on the alleged discovery violation. During the hearing, the trial court stated,

It can't really be cured by [deposing the detectives] at this point. It could be cured by either exclusion of that part of the evidence or by a mistrial, one way or the other. I mean he has --it's been very obvious in [defense counsel's] cross examination that that time-frame is critical.

(T 834). Upon questioning, Thowart said although the 10 o'clock time-frame was not in the notes of the interview and he did not mention at deposition, he remembered Reese saying the victim went to bed around ten o'clock, and he came out about an hour after that.

After further argument, the trial court ruled there was no discovery violation because "the law does not expect anyone to have a verbatim memory" of such lengthy conversations and "it appears that the fact that it wasn't mentioned in the deposition is a matter of innocence as far as their intent goes." (T 848-849).

Both Thowart and Hinson testified regarding Reese's oral statements. Thowart said Reese was brought down to the station for questioning because a print left in Austin's house had been

positively identified as his.² (T 855-856). After reading Reese his rights, they asked him if he had ever been in Austin's house, ever helped her move, or ever had sex with her. Reese answered no to each of these questions and said he did not know who might have hurt her. With Reese's permission, Thowart wrote out a statement to this effect, which Reese signed. (T 869-870).

Thowart then told Reese his prints were found inside the house. Reese asked what would happen if he told the truth and asked to see Grier. (T 876-877, 917). Thowart brought Grier to the door of the room, and Reese stood, held out his hand, and asked her to come here. Grier told him to tell the truth. (T 878, 918). Reese was somewhat emotional after she left the (T 918). He then confessed the details of the crime. He went to see Austin around noon. He wanted to talk to her about going off with Jackie all the time and leaving him watching the kids and the problem this was causing in his relationship with Jackie. When he got there, no one was home. He jimmied the back door lock with a pocket knife. (T 879, 920). He waited in the back bedroom, in the closet. Austin got home around 4 o'clock, and he waited for her to go to bed. The longer he waited, the madder he got. Hinson asked Reese if that was when he decided to hurt her, and he said yes. (T 920). Thowart testified they asked him if that was when he

²Thowart admitted he got Reese to the police station by lying. He contacted Jackie Grier and told her they had lost Reese's prints and needed another set. (T 898).

decided to kill her, and he said, yes, the longer he waited, the madder he got. (T 881). She went to sleep around ten o'clock. She was sleeping unclothed on the couch in the living room, covered with a blanket. He waited about an hour, then came up behind her and grabbed her around the neck. They struggled into the bedroom. He admitted he had sex with her but asked them not to tell Jackie. (T 883-884, 922). He pulled her to the floor and choked her with an extension cord that was on the floor. (T 886). He covered her with some bedclothes and left through the back door. He went to a store to get some food, then went home to Jackie. (T 887, 923).

Defense Case

Reese testified in his defense. He was 28 years old and was raised in Alexander, Virginia, by his adopted parents, Calvester and John Reese, Sr, until he was seven years old. (T 935-936, 939). They had a loving family home. When Reese was seven, his father got sick and went to the hospital. He came home on a Monday night and said he was doing fine. The next morning, when Reese went to his parents' bedroom, clothes were all over the floor and drawers were open. A butcher knife lay on the floor, broken into two pieces. He found his mother lying on the floor downstairs. She had been stabbed. He could not find his father. He went to a neighbor's house and told them his mother was dead. The police came. They found his father the next day. (T 941-942). He found out later his father was sent to a mental hospital. When he got out, he

froze to death. (T 947-948).

Reese went to live with his mother's brother, Marvin Smith, in Anniston, Alabama. It was different from what he was used to. They argued all the time. He got whipped a lot. He was not allowed to play sports or have friends. He had to stay home all the time. He was not allowed to see his father's family in Anniston and Birmingham. (T 948-949).

When he was in high school, he went to live with his father's brother, Grover Reese, and Grover's wife, Ernestine.

Uncle Grover had always wanted to see him and spend time with him. After he moved in with Grover, he had somebody to help him and a chance to get a better education. He played sports, had friends, got to go places. After high school, he went to the Job Corps in Kentucky and learned a trade, painting. After he graduated, he returned to Anniston. (T 950-951).

He met Jackie Grier at a night club. (T 951). The relationship started off wonderful. It was what he had always been looking for in a relationship. Jackie did things for him nobody had ever done for him. He always told her she reminded him of his mother. She was always there for him. They were close. (T 952).

But, over the years, things got bad. They argued a lot. He did not know if it was about the money he was bringing in or something else. Whenever he brought home a paycheck, he gave it to Jackie. He gave her everything he had. He took care of the kids. He loved her and made sure she was well. (T 952).

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