FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 2 1996

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

JOHN LOVEMAN REESE,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. 82,119

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA J. YATES Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #293237

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

still be appropriate when compared with double aggravators cases that had more in mitigation than the instant case. E.g., Davis_v. State, 648 So.2d 107 (Fla. 1994); Smith v. State, 641 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 1129, 130 L.Ed.2d 1091 (1995). Although Reese ignores them, there are also true domestic cases where this Court found the death sentence appropriate. **<u>E.g.</u>**, <u>Henry</u> v. State, 649 So.2d 1366 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 132 L.Ed.2d 839 (1995); Arbalaez v. State, 626 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 114 S.Ct. 2133, 128 L.Ed.2d 678 (1994); Duncan v. State, 619 So.2d 279 (Fla.), cert. denied, 114 S.Ct. 453, 126 L.Ed.2d 385 (1993); Porter v. State, 564 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 1110, 111 S.Ct. 1024, 112 L.Ed.2d 1106 (1991); Tompkins V. State, 502 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1986), cert. denied, 483 U.S. 1033, 107 S.Ct. 3277, 97 L.Ed.2d 781 (1987); Lemon v. State, 456 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1230, 105 S.Ct. 1233, 84 L.Ed.2d 370 (1985); Williams v. State, 437 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1983).

This was a cold-blooded, unprovoked attack committed in the **victim's** home. Contrary to Reese's claim, it is one of the most aggravated and least mitigated of murders. When compared with other cases, it is obvious that Reese's death sentence is both proportionate and appropriate and should be affirmed.

ISSUE VIII

WHETHER THE PROSECUTOR'S PENALTY-PHASE ARGUMENTS RENDERED THE SENTENCING UNRELIABLE.

Reese argues that four of the prosecutor's comments during the penalty-phase argument were so improper and prejudicial that he should be resentenced. There is no merit to this claim.

Reese first claims that the prosecutor made a Golden Rule argument, quoting three sentences out of context. As the transcript shows, however, the prosecutor did not make a Golden Rule argument. In explaining the aggravators to the jury, the prosecutor stated:

> The second aggravating circumstance that has been proven and established in this case is that, and bear with me, if anyone cannot read this second line, if you would just hold your hand up. I'll hold this up. The crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. Heinous means extremely wicked or shockingly evil. Atrocious means outrageously wicked and violent. Cruel means designated to inflict a high degree of pain with utter indifference to - or even the enjoyment of suffering of others. It's the kind of crime intended to be included in heinous or atrocious or cruel, is one accompanied by additional acts that show that the crime was consciousless or hideous or was unnecessarily tortuous to the victim.

I would submit to you that the way that that defendant chose to kill Charlene Austin, what he forced Charlene Austin to experience is everyone woman's worse nightmare. (T 1434). Defense counsel asked to approach the bench, and ^{the}

following exchange occurred:

MR. COFER: Your Honor, Mr. Bateh violated the Golden Rule Seven of our jurors with that comment.

MR. BATEH: Your Honor, I submit that that's not the case. Your Honor, I've got to go in that, and I'm going to detail it with specific facts. I'm referring to the evidence produced.

THE COURT: Huh-huh. I don't think it's a Golden Rule unless you say to directly put themselves in his place.

MR. COFER: A woman's nightmare.

THE COURT: Huh-huh.

MR. COFER: And he's talking to a jury with the majority of them being women on it. How can that be anything but a Golden Rule.

THE COURT: Well, it's just not telling them to put themselves in anybody else's position. To be the Golden Rule, that's what you have to ask them to do.

MR. COFER: Well, if that's the **case**, I'll just raise the objection.

(T 1435). The court overruled the objection. (T 1436). The prosecutor then went on with his argument that the HAC aggravator applied.

Closing argument 'must not be used to inflame the minds and passions of jurors." <u>Bertolotti</u> v. State, 476 So.2d 130, 134 (Fla.

1988). The purpose of such argument "is to review the evidence and to explicate those inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." <u>Id</u>. To that end, wide latitude is allowed; counsel may **advance** all legitimate arguments and draw logical inferences. <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 882, 103 S.Ct. 184, 74 L.Ed.2d 149 (1983).

Controlling counsel's argument is within the trial court's discretion, and the court's ruling will not be reversed unless an abuse of discretion is shown. The prosecutor did not make an improper Golden Rule argument. The trial court ruled correctly, and Reese has shown no abuse of discretion.

Reese also argues that "[t]he prosecutor misled the jury by suggesting that if the trial court imposed life sentences for the sexual battery and burglary, appellant could be paroled for these offenses." (Initial brief at 70). The complained-about argument went as follows:

> [Mr. Bateh:] Now I anticipate, I expect the defense is going to -- you're going to be told that on first-degree murder, the defendant can get, if he doesn't get a life -if there is a recommendation of life, that means a life sentence, no chance of parole for 25 years.

> The Judge is going to tell you this, that on the sexual battery and burglary, that the defendant can face up to [life] in prison on

those two offenses. But you need to know this, there's no minimum mandatory sentence on these [lifes]. No minimum mandatory on the murder, there is a minimum mandatory of 25 years, on these other lifes, there's no minimum mandatory, and no one really knows what that means.

(T 1451-52). Defense counsel objected, claiming: 'Mr. Bateh has affirmatively misled the jury. Mr. Bateh knows that sexual battery is not a parolable offense." (T 1452). The following exchange then occurred during discussion of the objection.

MR. BATEH: You say they serve every day?

MR. COFER: If it's a life sentence, they certainly do. Can you tell me one person who on October 1, 1983, the enactment of this provision, was paroled on sexual battery, on burglary and have been given controlled release?

THE COURT: I can't tell you anybody that's in prison at the moment, I'm too tired. I don't quarrel that that statute was enacted, but I don't think that makes his comment improper.

MR. COFER: I think it's misleading the jury. If this court were to impose a life sentence, there's no eligibility for early release, and that's what he's suggesting.

MR. BATEH: No, that's not what I'm suggesting.

THE COURT: He's suggesting no minimum mandatory, in fact, he said no one knows what that means.

MR. COFER: No, his comments were no one knows what that means, telling them how much time he thinks he would do, how much sentence the court would impose.

MR. BATEH: The interpretation of the court is the interpretation I intended, and then, I stated --

THE COURT: I'm going to overrule the objection.

(T 1453-54).

Defense counsel made the following argument in urging the jurors to recommend life imprisonment:

Will it protect society? A sentence of life in prison with no possibility of parole for 25 years means that for each and every hour, each and every day of each and every week of each and every month, of this year, next year, this decade John Reese will be in prison and for the next decade, and for the next four years, since he's already been in one year. And then he'll become eligible for parole on that charge only.

The court has a responsibility for sentencing Mr. Reese in each of these [other] two counts. And the court will advise you that the maximum sentence that could be imposed by the court on those charges is life, pure life. And you can consider that as a factor.

(T 1480).

Reese argues that "the jury was entitled to know that if sentenced to life on the non-capital offenses, appellant would never be released into society." (Initial brief at 72). Defense counsel, however, never told the jury that Reese would never be released from prison. Indeed, if for some reason Reese's death sentence were vacated, he possibly could be paroled after twentyfive years because the trial court imposed concurrent twenty-two year sentences for the noncapital convictions. (R 379, 380). Be that as it may, the prosecutor's argument did not mislead the jury. Reese has shown no error in the trial court's ruling.

Reese's third complaint is that the prosecutor characterized him as a rabid dog. (Initial brief at 72). This complaint comes from the following argument:

> And the mitigation that's been presented in this case reminds me of a story I read about not long ago that concerned a man who had a dog. He'd gotten that dog when he was a young puppy. It was a cute puppy. But the man beat that puppy.

> And he abused it, and that puppy, over time, grew, he grew into a large dog. He grew into a vicious dog. And it grew so vicious that it would attack people that came near his house.

> And one day, there **was** a woman, a young woman, that walked by the house, and the dog attacked her, and the dog bit the woman. The dog mauled the woman's face. The dog **was** caught, was captured, caught by the dog catcher, and the dog was carried off to the pound to be put to death. To be destroyed.

And the owner of the dog went to the dog pound, and he pleaded with the officials, please don't kill my dog. And the officials there turned to the dog owner and said why? And his answer was: Because when he was a young puppy, he was my baby.

And I submit to you that like the owner of that dog, what the defense has done is run people through who knew that defendant long **ago.** You can look at those pictures, they are going to parade them in there for you, long ago when he was a baby, he may have been a cute **puppy**, to use my analogy, but this is people who hadn't seen or associated with that defendant in years. The little puppy that they knew, the young man that they knew years ago no longer exists.

(T 1455-56). Defense counsel then interrupted, stating: "Your Honor, I'm going to object to this. Forgive me. I would object to what I anticipate being comments Mr. Bateh is about to make." (Т Counsel, however, did not explain what supposedly 1456). objectionable comments the prosecutor was going to make, and the Following the overruled the objection. (T 1456). court "Your Honor, I prosecutor's argument, defense counsel stated: would renew my objections to the dog references, that was namecalling." (T 1459). The court overruled this objection as well. (T 1459) .

There are several problems with this argument. Defense counsel did not make a timely specific, cognizable objection to the

prosecutor's analogy so that the trial court knew the basis for the objection. cf. <u>Finney v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1995); <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982). Counsel's specific objection, 'name-calling," came too late to preserve this claim for appeal.

Even if this Court finds that Reese preserved this issue, no relief is warranted. The prosecutor never called Reese a rabid dog. Reese attempted to show in mitigation that he was a good person who killed the victim in a fit of passion caused by his adoptive father's killing his adoptive mother when Reese was seven. The prosecutor's analogy was apt and not so outrageous as to taint the jury's recommendation. Reese has shown no abuse of discretion in the trial court's ruling, and this claim should be denied.

As the final part of this claim, Reese argues that the prosecutor improperly appealed to the jurors' sympathy. At the end of his argument the prosecutor stated:

I'm concerned that some of you may be tempted to take the easy way out in this proceeding, and that is not to weigh the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, and not want to fully carry out you[r] responsibility under the **law**, and just vote for life without weighing things out.

If you weigh out all of the circumstances, all of the evidence and apply the law in the case, you will clearly see that

the aggravating circumstances outweigh the mitigating circumstances, and death is the proper recommendation.

I ask you not to be swayed by pity or sympathy for the defendant. What pity or sorrow or sympathy did he show to Charlene Austin?

And I ask you this, and this is my final comment to you, if you are to -- to show pity or mercy or sympathy to this defendant, I ask you to do this: I ask you to show that defendant the same sympathy, the same mercy, the same pity that he showed to Charlene Austin, and that was none.

(T 1458). Reese did not object to this comment. The comment did not constitute fundamental error and, thus, this complaint was not preserved for appeal. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Crump v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 963 (Fla. 1993); <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 522 So.2d 802 (Fla.), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 488 U.S. 871, 109 S.Ct. 183, 102 L.Ed.2d 153 (1988). Even if this claim were cognizable, any error would be harmless because "[t]his record established to a moral certainty that [Reese] killed [the victim], and there is no reasonable probability the verdict would have been different in the absence of this error." <u>Richardson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 604 So.2d 1107, 1109 (Fla. 1992).

Some of the comments Reese complains about were not objected to and, thus, were not preserved for appeal. The trial court correctly overruled the objections to the other comments. None of

the comments vitiated the proceedings or tainted the jury's recommendation. Reese has demonstrated no error regarding this claim, and it should be denied.

ISSUE IX

WHETHER THE HAC INSTRUCTION WAS ADEQUATE.

Reese acknowledges that the HAC instruction given to his jury was identical to that approved in <u>Hall v. State</u>, 614 So.2d 473 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 114 S.Ct. 109, 126 L.Ed.2d 74 (1993). He argues, however, that the instruction is still constitutionally deficient. There is no merit to this issue.

At the penalty-phase charge conference defense counsel objected both to giving the HAC instruction because the facts did not support it and to the wording of the standard instruction. (T 1413-14). The court decided to give the standard instruction (T 1414) and instructed the jury as follows:

Number two, the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel.

Heinous means extremely wicked or shockingly evil. Atrocious means with utter excuse me atrocious means outrageously wicked and vile. Cruel means designed to inflict any degree of pain with utter indifference to or even enjoyment of the suffering of others.

The kind of crime intended to be included as heinous, atrocious or cruel is one accompanied by additional acts that show that the crime was consciousless or pitiless or was unnecessarily torturous to the victim.

(T 1484-85). The court, however, granted the defense request for additional explanation of HAC (T 1415-18) and **also** gave the following instruction: "You're instructed that the actions of the defendant which you find were taken after the victim **was** rendered unconscious or dead can't be considered in determining whether the murder was especially wicked, evil, atrocious or cruel." (T 1486).

As Reese admits, <u>Hall</u> approved the standard instruction. Moreover, this Court has been consistent in following <u>Ball.</u> g _____, <u>Finnev v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1995); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 637 (Fla. 1995); <u>Fennie v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 95 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert. denied</u>, 115 S.Ct. 1120, 130 L.Ed.2d 1083 (1995); <u>Falls v.</u> <u>State</u>, 641 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 115 S.Ct. 943, 130 L.Ed.2d 887 (1995); <u>Tavlor v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1993), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 115 S.Ct. 518, 130 L.Ed.2d 424 (1994). Reese has shown no reason why this Court should reconsider this issue, and this claim should be denied as being without merit.

Even if this Court were to find error in the HAC instruction, any such error would be harmless because this murder was heinous, atrocious, or cruel under any definition of those terms. Reese

broke into the victim's home and lay in wait for hours after she returned home. He attacked her, hitting her in the face four times, raped her, and finally strangled her. As found by the trial court,

> [b]efore beginning the act of killing her, he raped her from behind while choking her. This was intended to degrade, punish, and terrify her, all of which it undoubtedly did. Further, the manner in which he choked her to death inflicted **a** high degree of pain and suffering upon the victim. The killing was conscienceless, pitiless, and torturous, as the Defendant intended it to be, because he wanted to inflict suffering; he wanted revenge.

(R 383).

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